

February 2015

Exposure Draft ED/2015/1

Classification of Liabilities

Proposed amendments to IAS[®] 1

Comments to be received by 10 June 2015

Classification of Liabilities

(Proposed amendments to IAS 1)

Comments to be received by 10 June 2015

Exposure Draft ED/2015/1 *Classification of Liabilities* (Proposed amendments to IAS 1) is published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for comment only. The proposals may be modified in the light of the comments received before being issued in final form. Comments need to be received by **10 June 2015** and should be submitted in writing to the address below, by email to commentletters@ifrs.org or electronically using our 'Comment on a proposal' page.

All comments will be on the public record and posted on our website unless the respondent requests confidentiality. Such requests will not normally be granted unless supported by good reason, for example, commercial confidence. Please see our website for details on this and how we use your personal data.

Disclaimer: the IASB, the IFRS Foundation, the authors and the publishers do not accept responsibility for any loss caused by acting or refraining from acting in reliance on the material in this publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise.

International Financial Reporting Standards (including International Accounting Standards and SIC and IFRIC Interpretations), Exposure Drafts and other IASB and/or IFRS Foundation publications are copyright of the IFRS Foundation.

Copyright © 2015 IFRS Foundation®

ISBN: 978-1-909704-75-6

All rights reserved. Copies of the Exposure Draft may only be made for the purpose of preparing comments to the IASB provided that such copies are for personal or internal use, are not sold or otherwise disseminated, acknowledge the IFRS Foundation's copyright and set out the IASB's address in full.

Except as permitted above no part of this publication may be translated, reprinted, reproduced or used in any form either in whole or in part or by any electronic, mechanical or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage and retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the IFRS Foundation.

The approved text of International Financial Reporting Standards and other IASB publications is that published by the IASB in the English language. Copies may be obtained from the IFRS Foundation. Please address publications and copyright matters to:

IFRS Foundation Publications Department
30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7332 2730 Fax: +44 (0)20 7332 2749
Email: publications@ifrs.org Web: www.ifrs.org



The IFRS Foundation logo/the IASB logo/the IFRS for SMEs logo/'Hexagon Device', 'IFRS Foundation', 'IFRS Taxonomy', 'eIFRS', 'IASB', 'IFRS for SMEs', 'IAS', 'IASs', 'IFRIC', 'IFRS', 'IFRSs', 'SIC', 'International Accounting Standards' and 'International Financial Reporting Standards' are Trade Marks of the IFRS Foundation.

Further details of the Trade Marks, including details of countries where the Trade Marks are registered or applied for, are available from the Licensor on request.

The IFRS Foundation is a not-for-profit corporation under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, USA and operates in England and Wales as an overseas company (Company number: FC023235) with its principal office as above.

CONTENTS

	<i>from page</i>
INTRODUCTION	4
INVITATION TO COMMENT	5
[DRAFT] AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1 <i>PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS</i>	7
APPROVAL BY THE BOARD OF <i>CLASSIFICATION OF LIABILITIES</i> (PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1) PUBLISHED IN FEBRUARY 2015	10
BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON <i>CLASSIFICATION OF LIABILITIES</i> (PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1)	11

Introduction

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published this Exposure Draft of proposed amendments to IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements* to clarify the criteria for the classification of a liability as either current or non-current. This topic is the subject of paragraphs 69–76 of IAS 1.

What are the main proposals?

The proposals clarify that classification of liabilities as either current or non-current is based on the rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. In order to make this clear, the IASB proposes:

- (a) replacing 'discretion' in paragraph 73 of the Standard with 'right' to align it with the requirements of paragraph 69(d) of the Standard;
- (b) making it explicit in paragraphs 69(d) and 73 of the Standard that only rights in place at the reporting date should affect this classification of a liability; and
- (c) deleting 'unconditional' from paragraph 69(d) of the Standard so that 'an unconditional right' is replaced by 'a right'.

The IASB also proposes making clear the link between the settlement of the liability and the outflow of resources from the entity by adding that settlement 'refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services' to paragraph 69 of the Standard.

The IASB further proposes that guidance in the Standard should be reorganised so that similar examples are grouped together.

Finally, the IASB proposes that retrospective application should be required and that early application should be permitted.

Invitation to comment

The IASB invites comments on the proposals in this Exposure Draft, particularly on the questions set out below. Comments are most helpful if they:

- (a) comment on the questions as stated;
- (b) indicate the specific paragraph or group of paragraphs to which they relate;
- (c) contain a clear rationale; and
- (d) include any alternative that the IASB should consider, if applicable.

The IASB is not requesting comments on matters in IAS 1 that are not addressed in this Exposure Draft.

Comments should be submitted in writing so as to be received no later than **10 June 2015**.

Questions for respondents

Question 1—Classification based on the entity's rights at the end of the reporting period

The IASB proposes clarifying that the classification of liabilities as either current or non-current should be based on the entity's rights at the end of the reporting period. To make that clear, the IASB proposes:

- (a) replacing 'discretion' in paragraph 73 of the Standard with 'right' to align it with the requirements of paragraph 69(d) of the Standard;
- (b) making it explicit in paragraphs 69(d) and 73 of the Standard that only rights in place at the reporting date should affect this classification of a liability; and
- (c) deleting 'unconditional' from paragraph 69(d) of the Standard so that 'an unconditional right' is replaced by 'a right'.

Do you agree with the proposed amendments? Why or why not?

Question 2—Linking settlement with the outflow of resources

The IASB proposes making clear the link between the settlement of the liability and the outflow of resources from the entity by adding 'by the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services' to paragraph 69 of the Standard.

Do you agree with that proposal? Why or why not?

Question 3—Transition arrangements

The IASB proposes that the proposed amendments should be applied retrospectively.

Do you agree with that proposal? Why or why not?

How to comment

Comments should be submitted using one of the following methods.

Electronically Visit the ‘Comment on a proposal’ page, which can be found at:
(our preferred method) go.ifrs.org/comment

Email Email comments can be sent to: commentletters@ifrs.org

Postal IFRS Foundation
30 Cannon Street
London EC4M 6XH
United Kingdom

All comments will be on the public record and posted on our website unless confidentiality is requested. Such requests will not normally be granted unless supported by good reason, for example, commercial confidence. Please see our website for details on this and how we use your personal data.

[Draft] Amendments to IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*

Paragraphs 69 and 71 are amended. Paragraphs 72–76 have been amended and reorganised so that similar examples are grouped together. Consequently, paragraphs 74–76 are deleted and paragraphs 72 and 73 have been renumbered as 73R(b) and 72R(a) respectively. Paragraph 139Q is added. Deleted text is struck through and new text is underlined. Paragraph 70 is not amended, but has been included for ease of reference. The paragraphs that have been reorganised so that similar examples are grouped together are shown in the following table:

Source paragraph reference	Destination reference
72	73R(b)
73	72R(a)
74	73R(a)
75	72R(b)
76	73R(c)

Current liabilities

- 69 An entity shall classify a liability as current when:
- it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle;
 - it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;
 - the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
 - it does not have ~~an unconditional a right at the end of the reporting period~~ to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period (see paragraph 73 72R). Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-current.

For the purposes of classification as current or non-current, settlement of a liability refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services that results in the extinguishment of the liability.

- 70 Some current liabilities, such as trade payables and some accruals for employee and other operating costs, are part of the working capital used in the entity's normal operating cycle. An entity classifies such operating items as current liabilities even if they are due to be settled more than twelve months after the reporting period. The same normal operating cycle applies to the classification

of an entity's assets and liabilities. When the entity's normal operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, it is assumed to be twelve months.

71 Other current liabilities are not settled as part of the normal operating cycle, but are due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting period or held primarily for the purpose of trading. Examples are some financial liabilities that meet the definition of held for trading in IFRS 9, bank overdrafts, and the current portion of non-current financial liabilities, dividends payable, income taxes and other non-trade payables. Financial liabilities that provide financing on a long-term basis (ie are not part of the working capital used in the entity's normal operating cycle) and are not due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting period are non-current liabilities, subject to paragraphs 75 72R(b) and 74 73R(a).

72R The following are examples of circumstances that create a right to defer settlement that exists at the end of the reporting period and, thus, affect the classification of the liability in accordance with paragraph 69(d).

- (a) If an entity ~~expects, and~~ has the ~~discretion, right to~~ refinance or roll over an obligation for at least twelve months after the reporting period under an existing loan facility, it classifies the obligation as non-current, even if it would otherwise be due within a shorter period. ~~However, when refinancing or rolling~~ When the entity does not have the right to roll over the obligation is not at the discretion of the entity, (because, for example, there is no arrangement for refinancing in place at the end of the reporting period for rolling over the obligation), the entity does not consider the potential to refinance the obligation and classifies the obligation as current.
- (b) ~~However, When an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable within twelve months after the reporting period,~~ the entity classifies the liability as non-current if the lender agreed by the end of the reporting period to provide a period of grace ending at least twelve months after the reporting period, within which the entity can rectify the breach and during which the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.

73R The following are examples of circumstances that do not create a right to defer settlement that exists at the end of the reporting period.

- (a) When an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand, it classifies the liability as current, even if the lender agreed, after the reporting period and before the authorisation of the financial statements for issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach. An entity classifies the liability as current because, at the end of the reporting period, it does not have ~~an~~ unconditional a right to defer its settlement for at least twelve months after that date.
- (b) An entity classifies its financial liabilities as current when they are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, even if:

CLASSIFICATION OF LIABILITIES (PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1)

- (i) the original term was for a period longer than twelve months, and
 - (ii) an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule the payments of an existing loan, on a long-term basis is completed after the reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue.
- (c) In respect of loans classified as current liabilities, if the following events occur between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, those events are ~~disclosed~~ as non-adjusting events in accordance with IAS 10 *Events after the Reporting Period* and do not affect classification at the end of the reporting period:
- (i) refinancing on a long-term basis;
 - (ii) rectification of a breach of a long-term loan arrangement; and
 - (iii) the granting by the lender of a period of grace to rectify a breach of a long-term loan arrangement ending at least twelve months after the reporting period.

An entity discloses non-adjusting events in accordance with IAS 10.

74-
76 [Deleted]

...

Transition and effective date

...

139Q [Draft] *Classification of Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 1)*, issued in [date to be inserted after exposure] amended paragraphs 69 and 71 and amended and reorganised paragraphs 72-76. Paragraphs 74-76 are deleted and paragraphs 72 and 73 have been renumbered as 73R(b) and 72R(a) respectively. Some paragraphs have been reorganised so that similar examples are grouped together. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after [date to be inserted after exposure] retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors*. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period it shall disclose that fact.

**Approval by the Board of *Classification of Liabilities*
(Proposed amendments to IAS 1) published in
February 2015**

The Exposure Draft *Classification of Liabilities* was approved for publication by the fourteen members of the International Accounting Standards Board.

Hans Hoogervorst	Chairman
Ian Mackintosh	Vice-Chairman
Stephen Cooper	
Philippe Danjou	
Amaro Luiz De Oliveira Gomes	
Martin Edelmann	
Patrick Finnegan	
Gary Kabureck	
Suzanne Lloyd	
Takatsugu Ochi	
Darrel Scott	
Chungwoo Suh	
Mary Tokar	
Wei-Guo Zhang	

Basis for Conclusions on Classification of Liabilities (Proposed amendments to IAS 1)

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the proposed amendments. All references are to existing paragraph numbers, before the proposed reorganisation, unless otherwise stated.

Current liabilities (paragraphs 69–76)

Background

BC1 The principle relating to the classification of liabilities is contained in paragraph 69 of IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*, which defines the criteria for current classification. Liabilities that do not meet these criteria are classified as non-current in accordance with that paragraph. The Board received a request to clarify how that classification principle interacts with the detailed guidance contained in two paragraphs in the Standard. The Board was asked how having *an unconditional right to defer settlement* (specified in paragraph 69(d)) related to having *the discretion to refinance or roll over an obligation* (specified in paragraph 73) as two bases for the classification of a liability as non-current.

Nature of the rights that affect classification

BC2 The Board concluded that the lack of clarity arises in part through the use of ‘unconditional’ in paragraph 69(d). The Board observed that rights to defer settlement are rarely unconditional, because such rights are often conditional on compliance in future periods with covenants made by the borrower. In order to address this inconsistency, the Board proposes deleting ‘unconditional’ from paragraph 69(d) of the Standard so that ‘an unconditional right’ is replaced by ‘a right’.

BC3 The Board concluded that the word ‘discretion’ in paragraph 73 could be confusing and compared this with the use of ‘right’ in paragraph 69(d). Accordingly, the Board proposes replacing ‘discretion’ in paragraph 73 of the Standard with ‘right’ to align the requirements of paragraphs 69(d) and 73 of the Standard.

Rights at the end of the reporting period as the basis of classification

BC4 The Board considered a number of examples of conditions that could be placed on exercising a right. The Board concluded that when a right is subject to a condition, it is whether the entity complies with that condition as at the end of the reporting period that determines whether the right should affect classification.

BC5 The Board also confirmed that the criteria for classification of a liability as non-current in accordance with paragraphs 69(d) and 73 should be based on the rights in existence at the end of the reporting period. Rights granted after the end of the reporting period should not affect the classification of a liability as at the end of the reporting period.

- BC6 In order to make these requirements clear, the Board proposes making it explicit in paragraphs 69(d) and 73 of the Standard that only rights in place at the reporting date should affect the classification of a liability, by adding a reference to rights ‘at the end of the reporting period’ to each paragraph.

Right to roll over an obligation

- BC7 The Board considered the particular case, described in paragraph 73 of the Standard, in which an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability by rolling over the borrowing under an existing loan facility. In accordance with this paragraph, the entity classifies the obligation as a non-current liability.
- BC8 The Board noted that this represents an exception to the classification principle in paragraph 69 and was intended to apply only in limited circumstances, ie when there is the right at the end of the reporting period to roll over an existing loan under an existing loan facility. The Board did not want to extend this exception.
- BC9 The *Annual Improvements 2010–2012* Exposure Draft proposed clarifying this exception by including a reference to ‘same lender’ in paragraph 73. Feedback received by the Board was that the wording was not practical, especially within the context of lender consortia. Consequently, the Board considered whether ‘same lender’ should be extended to include the same consortium of lenders and, if so, when changes to the membership of that consortium would prevent qualification of the consortium as ‘the same lender’.
- BC10 Some Board members thought that if the lead lender remained the same, the risk profile of the consortium would not change, because the lead lender has the primary responsibility for determining the terms of the lending. Other Board members thought that maintaining the same lead lender would not be a sufficiently relevant basis for drawing a distinction between the same lender and a different lender. The Board members also noted that lender consortia can be structured in different ways. The Board acknowledged the complexity introduced by consortia of lenders and the practical difficulties that a reference to ‘same lender’ would create.
- BC11 The Board does not propose including an explicit requirement that rolled-over lending must be with the same lender. Instead it decided that emphasis should be placed on there being a right at the end of the reporting period to roll over the obligation under the existing loan facility that directly relates to the loan being classified. The Board noted that the requirement that it must be an existing loan facility is already explicit in paragraph 73.

Meaning of the term ‘settlement’ for the purposes of the classification of liabilities

- BC12 The Board considered the meaning of the ‘right to defer settlement’ of a liability within the context of classification of a liability as either current or non-current. In the circumstances described in paragraph 73, the Board agreed that the rollover of the borrowing does not constitute ‘settlement’ and would not result in the liability being classified as current. The Board thought that the rollover of

the borrowing was the extension of an existing liability. The Board concluded that it was important to link the settlement of the liability with the outflow of resources of the entity.

- BC13 The Board considered the nature of the outflow of resources from the entity. Many liabilities would be settled by the transfer of cash from the entity. However, the Board also noted that some liabilities would arise from those obligations, such as performance obligations, as discussed in IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers*, that are settled by the transfer of resources other than cash, such as goods or services.
- BC14 The Board also considered the case of an equity-settled instrument, or a component of a financial instrument, that is classified as a liability in accordance with IFRS. The Board concluded that settlement for the purposes of classification of a liability as either current or non-current would also refer to the transfer of equity instruments to the counterparty of such a financial instrument.
- BC15 Accordingly, the Board proposes explaining that ‘settlement’ of a liability for classification purposes may be achieved in different forms, ie cash, other assets, services, and in some cases, equity.

Effect of events after the reporting period

- BC16 The Board considered whether events after the reporting period, such as breach of covenant or early repayment by the entity, should affect the classification of the liability. In particular, the Board considered the effect on classification of management’s expectations about events after the reporting period that prevent the application of rights to defer settlement (such as management’s intention to repay borrowings within twelve months or management’s expectation about a future breach of covenants that would render the borrowings repayable on demand). Some Board members expressed concern that such a proposal would place too much emphasis on management intentions and expectations. Others thought the proposal would represent an exception to IAS 10 *Events after the Reporting Period*. In accordance with that Standard, adjusting events are only those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period.
- BC17 As a result of these concerns, the Board does not propose amending guidance on the effect of events after the reporting period.
- BC18 Discussions about the effect of events after the reporting period on the classification decision confirmed the Board’s view that classification should be based on the entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period. In order to make a clear distinction between circumstances that do affect the rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period and those that do not, the Board proposes that guidance in the Standard should be reorganised so that similar examples are grouped together.

Transition and first-time adoption

- BC19 The Board noted that requirements for transition arrangements are set out in IAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors*. That Standard

requires that changes in accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively in accordance with paragraph 19(b) and changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with paragraph 36. The Board concluded that the proposals would not result in a *change* of accounting policy; instead the proposed amendment would clarify existing requirements about the classification of liabilities. Consequently, any resulting change in classification would be more in the nature of a change in accounting estimate which, in accordance with IAS 8, would warrant prospective application.

- BC20 The Board concluded, however, that these proposals should nonetheless be applied retrospectively because:
- (a) paragraph 41 of IAS 1 requires that, if an entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial statements, it shall reclassify comparative amounts unless reclassification is impracticable;
 - (b) the Board considered that the retrospective application of the proposed narrow-scope amendments would not be onerous, because they deal solely with classification, rather than recognition or measurement;
 - (c) the proposed narrow-scope amendments would clarify existing requirements rather than imposing additional requirements; and
 - (d) information about the classification of liabilities would be most useful if current and prior period information is presented on the same basis.
- BC21 The Board proposes that early application should be permitted.
- BC22 The Board also considered the effects of the amendments when an entity adopts IFRS for the first time and concluded that no exemption to the requirements of IFRS 1 *First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards* would be required.